91957-7

**FILED**

JUL 22 2015

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II

2015 JUL 15 PM 3:11

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. BY

DEPUTY

Court of Appeals State of Washington Division II - No.: ~~45579-2-II~~

45779-2-II

Pierce County Superior Court No: 12-2-08215-0

**RENATO FIGURACION and JOLEEN FIGURACION, individually  
and the marital community comprised thereof and S.F., by and  
through her Parent/Guardian JOLEEN FIGURACION, a minor  
child,**

**Petitioner,**

vs.

**REMBRANDT REALTY TRUST; THE NEIDERS COMPANY,  
LLC., a Washington Corporation,**

**Respondents.**

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

## **I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

The petitioners, Renato and Joleen Figuracion individually and on behalf of S.F., their minor child, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision which affirms the summary judgment dismissal of their claim against their former landlord for injuries suffered by S.F. as a result of coming into contact with a steam radiator located within the apartment rented to them by respondents.

## **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The Court of Appeals decision was filed on June 16, 2015. The opinion, signed by Judge Worswick is attached as Appendix A.

## **III. ISSUES PRESENT FOR REVIEW**

Legal commentators have recognized that the standards of liability applicable to landlords for injuries suffered by their tenants are inconsistent, developing and far from clear. See generally, *17 WAPRAC – Real Estate* § 6.35 (2d ed. 2015).<sup>1</sup> Should this petition for review be accepted, it will afford the Supreme Court an opportunity to provide clarity in an area where there is "substantial public interest" and

---

<sup>1</sup> Authored by William B. Stoebuck and John W. Weaver, who noted that due to inconsistent Appellate Court decisions there is "much confusion about landlord's liability to tenants for personal injuries ...".

incoherency and inconsistency within the laws. See RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4).

Unfortunately given the lack of clarity in this area of the law both the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals in dismissing petitioners' case, on summary judgment standards, rested their decisions on the factual fiction that a steam radiator, which is capable of inflicting severe burns on relatively minimal contact, is not dangerous to the tenant, and in particular small children. Unfortunately due to the absence of the kind of definitive guidance which can only be provided by this Court, the Court of Appeals rather absurdly concluded that a landlord cannot be liable for the burns suffered by a small child on a steam radiator even though it was an essential component of a "central heating **system**" over which the tenant, other than turning it on and off, had no ability to control with respect to temperature.<sup>2</sup> It is further troubling to note that the Court of Appeals opinion appears to superficially permit a landlord to mislead a tenant on child safety issues without a scintilla of consequences.

The undisputed facts below establish that at the inception of the tenancy in this case the Figuracions were misled by misrepresentation from respondent's management personnel, who told them that the radiator

---

<sup>2</sup> A landlord is statutorily obligated to provide heat in a residential tenancy. See RPW 59.18.060(8). Thus, any suggestion that the Figuracions could have averted the danger by simply turning off the steam radiator is not well taken.

in the apartment they were about to lease never got very hot and that would violate code to place a cover over it.<sup>3</sup>

1. Did the Court of Appeals misapply Restatement (Second) of Properties § 17.3 and § 17.4 when ruling that the landlord did not retain control over the central heating system at issue in this case?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in its core holding that the Figuracions, as tenants, had exclusive control and possession of the steam radiator which caused S.F. burn injuries, when it is undisputed that such a steam radiator was an essential component of a central heating system over which the tenant could exercise no control (other than turning on and off), as to the amount of heat coming into their apartment?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err by separating the central boiler from the steam radiator within the petitioners' apartment for analytical purpose when factually they are part and parcel of the same "system" and as recognized in the comments to Restatement (Second) of Property § 17.4 is the kind of appurtenance/fixture which a landlord controls?

---

<sup>3</sup> Mr. Figuracion is a carpenter and volunteered to build a radiator cover which would have cost a diminutive amount of money. After S.F. was burned, respondents continued to resist ameliorating the hazard to children posed by steam radiator, indicating that such a refusal was economically grounded on the notion that if radiator covers were provided to the Figuracions, then all other tenants would want the same.

4. Given the undisputed information within record, did the Court of Appeals err in failing to recognize that there was, at a minimum, a question of fact as to whether or not the steam radiator which burned S.F. was "an actual or potential safety hazard" implicating the warranty of habitability recognized by Washington law, when the literature establishes that steam radiators pose a grave safety risk to children, the infirm and elderly?<sup>4</sup>

5. Did the Court of Appeals err by interpreting Restatement (Second) of Property § 17.6 in a manner which rendered the "implied warranty of habitability" set forth therein, superfluous and meaningless, by holding that in order to prove such a violation of the warranty that petitioners were obligated to prove the landlord violated statute or administrative regulation, when such an interpretation is contrary to well established Washington jurisprudence and defies the rules of statutory construction?

6. Given the fact that the landlord controlled the injury producing aspect of the steam radiator, (how hot it could get), did the Appellate Court err in failing to recognize that there was at least a

---

<sup>4</sup> The "implied warranty of habitability" applicable to residential tenancies is a creature of Washington's common law and statute. See *Foisy v. Wyman* 83 Wn. 2d 22, 31, 515 P. 2d 160 (1973); *Landis and Landis Const., LLC v Nation* 171 Wn.App. 157, 162 289 P. 3d 979 (2012) (common law implied warranty); Restatement (Second) of Property § 17.6 and RCW 59.18.060. According to the Court of Appeals the statutory implied warranty only applies if there are violations of the enumerated provisions of RCW 59.18.060.

question of fact as to whether or not the respondent breached its duty owed to the petitioners as "invitee" under Washington's common law?

7. Should the Supreme Court accept review will it consider the Trial Court's denial of petitioners' motion for summary judgment before the Trial Court on the issue of "parental immunity"?

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **A. Factual Background.**

S.F. suffered severe burns from a steam radiator in the apartment rented to her parents by respondents. The injury occurred after her parents were misinformed by respondent's management personnel that the steam radiator never got hot enough to cause any harm and that it would violate "code" to build and place a cover over the offending radiator.

In May or June 2008 the petitioner's parents, after suffering homelessness and living in a hotel, were able to enter into a rental agreement, (1-year lease), for Unit 212 at Rembrandt Apartment, located in Tacoma, Washington. At the time the parents were entered into the rental agreement, it was understood that their two minor children "S.F." (female DOB 3/23/08) and C.F., (male, DOB 8/14/06), would also be residing within the apartment.<sup>5</sup> The Rembrandt Apartments, at the

---

<sup>5</sup> The apartment is on the ground/basement level of the Rembrandt Apartments. As you enter the apartment, directly in front of you is the restroom. To the left is the living room area which contained the steam radiator upon which S.F. suffered her burns. To the right,

relevant time, had a central heating/steam system comprised of a centered boiler and steam radiators in individual apartments. Within the living room area of the apartment rented by petitioners, there was a 3-tiered steam radiator which was angled away from the wall in such a manner as to provide a triangular shaped space between the radiator and the wall.

At the time of the parents' initial walkthrough with Rembrandt personnel, Mr. Figuracion asked whether or not he could put a cover over the radiator out of concern for the children getting behind it and getting burned. At that time the parents were informed that the radiator never got that hot and that it would be "against code" to put a cover over it.

Mr. Figuracion, a carpenter, offered to build a wooden cover that would enclose the entire radiator.<sup>6</sup> Given the fact that the parents were told that they could not cover the radiator in the living room, they stacked boxes around it in order to limit their toddlers' access particularly to the space between the radiator and the wall.

Unfortunately, on April 23, 2009 S.F. was severely burned on the very radiator about which her parents had expressed concern. At the time,

---

is a kitchen area which had a bedroom situated behind it. It is undisputed that from the bathroom area, even with the door open, one would not be able to see into either the living room or the kitchen area.

<sup>6</sup> The Figuracions had previously lived in an apartment which had radiator covers made of wood. It was undisputed below that wooden radiator covers are not unusual and are readily available for retail purchase for a relatively nominal price. Here, Mr. Figuracion was offering to build the cover, so the installation of a cover would not have cost respondents a dime, and could have been done very inexpensively.

the two toddlers were in the care of their mother, who was using the restroom, (with the door open), while the two toddlers were in the front room watching PBS. While Mrs. Figuracion was in the restroom (for approximately 5 minutes) she heard her daughter scream. Her initial assumption was the two toddlers were roughhousing and she yelled for them to "knock it off". For a moment the screaming stopped, but once again S.F. began to scream. As a result Mrs. Figuracion jumped off the commode and ran out of the bathroom and found S.F. and C.F.<sup>7</sup> behind the radiator.

Mrs. Figuracion picked S.F. up and felt something hanging on her hand which turned out to be a substantial amount of S.F.'s skin. Mrs. Figuracion immediately stripped off S.F.'s clothing and placed her into a cold bath. EMTs were called and S.F. was immediately transported to Mary Bridge Children's Hospital where she was treated for painful, severe second and third degree burns.

Because an injury to a child was involved, CPS investigated the injury and completed exonerated Mrs. Figuracion. While a CPS social

---

<sup>7</sup> Below the respondent argued that the two children were "trapped" by the boxes stacked around the radiator. The facts belie this assertion. Mrs. Figuracion indicated that S.F. was wedged into the corner between the radiator and the wall with her brother behind her. Thus, it was the positioning of her brother which kept her behind the radiator until Mrs. Figuracion was able to extract her. There is simply no indication that the boxes had shifted in any way or were otherwise forcing S.F.'s body into contact with the radiator.

worker was investigating, she came into contact with respondent's on-site manager and asked whether or not covers could be placed over the steam radiators to ensure child safety. Indifferently respondent's manager indicated that they would not ameliorate the dangers posed by the hot steam radiator because if it did so for the petitioners then it would be obligated to do so for all other residents.

Ultimately the Figurations turned off the steam heater and used space heaters in lieu of the radiator until they could move out.

**B. Division 2 Affirms Trial Court's Dismissal of Petitioner's Claims Based on the Erroneous Conclusion that the Landlord Did Not Retain Sufficient Control Over the Injury-Producing Aspects of the Central Heating System Warranting Imposition of Liability.**

As indicated within the court of appeals' opinion, this matter came before the appellate court on a grant respondent's motion for summary judgment and the denial of the petitioner's motion for partial summary judgment with respect to affirmative defenses, as well as the Figuracion parents' entitlement to "parental immunity".<sup>8</sup> (Slip Op. P. 3) In affirming

---

<sup>8</sup> As this matter is before the Appellate Court on a grant respondent's motion for summary judgment it was, and continues to be subject to a de novo review. See *Powers v. W.B. Mobile Servs., Inc.*, 182 Wn. 2d 159, 164, 139 P. 3d 173 (2014). As such, all facts, and reasonable inferences therefrom must be considered in a light most favorable to petitioner's, as the non-moving party. *Id.* at 164.

the trial court's decision the appellate court primarily rested on the notion that the injury-producing steam radiator, was not in a "common area" and neglected the well-established propositions that a landlord can be held liable when it retains control over the injury-producing instrumentality. (Slip Op. P. 5-6) In reaching such a conclusion the appellate court noted that "S.F. was injured in the Figuracion's apartment, not on the central boiler."<sup>9</sup>

Predicated on this fundamental legal error, the appellate court went on to reject a number of petitioner's theories of liability. In reaching this conclusion the appellate court failed to fully analyze *Restatement (Second) of Property* §§ 17.3 and 17.4 (1977), and instead utilized its own definition of "common areas" for the purposes of RCW 59.18.060(3).<sup>10</sup>

Petitioner's disagreement with the appellate court's decision which badly misapplied the law, and eviscerated a landlord's duties to minimally ensure tenant safety shall be discussed below.

---

<sup>9</sup> As explored below such a conclusion defies commonsense given the fact that, at all times the landlord controlled the amount of heat being produced by steam radiators which were located within the tenants' apartments.

<sup>10</sup> Such a failure on the part of the appellate court to analyze and/or apply these Restatement sections is somewhat puzzling. It is noted, for example, that in the "reporter's note" annexed to Section 17.3 at 8 is indicated that the "types of dangerous conditions" covered by the Restatements includes "heating systems", *Levine v. Bochiaro*, 59 A. 2d 224 (N.J. 1948). Similarly in the "reporters note" to section in 17.4 a wide variety of apparatuses and "central systems", are recognized as being the matters "covered by the rule". Such matters would include hot water systems, and heating systems, citing to, e.g. *Thomas v. Housing Authority of City of Bermerton*, 71 Wn. 2d 69, 426 P. 2d 836 (1967).

**V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

**A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Contrary to the Facts and Involved Serious Misapplications of the Law.**

- a. Respondents are liable for the injuries suffered by SF under the terms of Restatement (Second) of Property § 17.3 and 17.4.

Comment B to Section 17.4, provides under the heading of "parts of property covered by this rule", the following:

The rules stated in this section apply to the maintenance of walls, roofs and foundations of an apartment, house or office building. **It applies also to any other part of the property the careful maintenance of which is essential to the safe use of the rooms or offices or portions of the property leased to various tenants, such as the central heating, lighting or water system.** (Emphasis added).

Under any kind of reasonable analysis, a central heating system, such as involved in this case, where the tenant has absolutely no ability to control temperature, (other than turning on or off), clearly would fall within the terms of this rule. As shown by *Thomas v. Housing Authority of Bremerton*, 71 Wn.2d 69, 426 P 2d 836 (1967), this court had little difficulty in recognizing that a landlord can be subject to liability for an unsafe hot water tank within an apartment which scalded a child, even though the water tank in question apparently only serviced a single apartment. Gives the amount of control the landlord had over the heat

system in this case, the need for landlord accountability is even more compelling in this case.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals opinion at pages, 14 and 15, opinions from other jurisdictions support this rather intuitive proposition. See *Coleman v. Steinberg* 253 A. 2d 167 (N.J. 1969); (child burned by steam pipe connecting central furnace to radiator within an apartment); *Morning Star v. Strich*, 40 M.W.2d 719 (Mich. 1950); *McKern v. Goldstein*, 164 A. 2d 260 (Del. 1960) (infant burned on steam pipe connected to apartment radiator); *Niman v. Plaza House, Inc.* 471 S.W.2d 207 (Mo. 1971) (injury from central heating system which included a central boiler and radiators in individual apartments); and e.g., *Vesey v. Chicago Housing Authority* 563 N.E.2d 916 (Ill. 1990) (landlord potentially liable for burn from pipe connecting boiler system to steam radiator located within an apartment).<sup>11</sup>

The same rationale which was applied in these cases should have been applied resulting in the inevitable conclusion that there is at least a question of fact as to whether or not the landlord sufficiently retained

---

<sup>11</sup> When a dangerous condition is within the landlord's control, the fact that such control is not complete, does not exonerate the landlord from liability. See *Thompson v. Paseo Manor South, Inc.* 331 S.W.2d 1 (Mo. App. 1959). "Ordinarily a landlord retains control of an entire heating system. *Kilman v. Braun*, 806 S.W. 2d 75 (Mo. App. 1991). Steam pipes and the like are "inherently dangerous" See *Thompson v. Paseo Manor*, *Supra*.

control over the heating system that it was exposed to liability. As explained in *Coleman v. Steinberg* 253 A. 2d at 171

"Control of such facilities, including the entire heating system of which the pipes in each apartment were a part), remained in the landlord. Thus since control of the pipes in each apartment was maintained, the child's parents did not obtain full and exclusive possession and control of their apartment, and the landlord's retention carried with it the duty of using ordinary care to maintain the pipes in a reasonably safe condition. The court held that the evidence was sufficient to show that the pipes were dangerous to members of the tenant family and that it was for the jury to say whether defendant was negligent in permitting them to remain exposed **and without any protective covering or guard.** (emphasis added) citing to *Thompson v. Paseo Manor South Inc.* supra 131 S.W. 2d at 6.

Once it is determined that the landlord in this case retained control, the law clearly supports landlord liability under Sections 17.3 and 17.4 and a number of other theories.

**b. Breach of the Warranty of Habitability.**

The appellate court's determination that the implied warranty of habitability (whether, under the common law or statute), only applies when there has been established a regulatory or a statutory violation is simply unsupportable. In order for there to be a violation of the common law implied warranty of habitability, all that needs to be shown is that the condition written in the premises creates "an actual or potential safety hazard" to the occupants. See *Landis and Landis Construction LLC v. Nation* 171 Wn.App. at 165, citing, *Lian v. Stalick*, 106 Wn.App. 811,

818, 25 P. 3d 467 (2001); *Atherton Condo v Blum Dev. Co.* 116 Wn. 2d 506, 519-22, 799 P. 2d 250 (1990). The fact that the steam radiator in the Figuracion's apartment was capable of inflicting second and third degree burns, despite relatively little physical contact, speaks volumes as to whether or not the condition at issue satisfies this definition.

Further, there is simply no support for the court of appeals' determination that in order to have a claim based on the common law implied warranty of habitability, that it must be supported by showing that there were regulatory and/or statutory violations. As discussed in the well-reasoned opinion in *Pinckney v. Smith* 484 F.Supp.2d 1177, 1184 (W.D. Wash. 2007), this court in *Foisy v. Wyman* 83 Wn. 2d 22, 31, 515 P. 2d 160 (1973), expressly rejected the notion that there must be a code violation or a regulatory and/or statutory violation in order to establish a prima facie case that premises are uninhabitable. To require such a showing would be contrary to well established Washington law which recognizes that violation of regulation and/or statute is only evidence of negligence and typically is not required. See RCW 5.40.050; WPI 60.03; *Joyce v. State* 155 Wn. 2d 306, 119 P. 3d 825 (2005), see also, *Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle* 153 Wn.App. 890, 223 P. 3d 1230 (2009).<sup>12</sup>

---

<sup>12</sup> Apparently the court of appeals misapprehended petitioner's position with respect to whether or not any code violations existed with respect to the offending radiator. As shown by the record, petitioner's before the trial cant, in the appellate court, took the

Further, such position the court of appeals position appears to be directly contrary to the language of restatement (second) of property Section 17.6. Section 17.6 indicates the landlord is subject to the liability for the physical harm suffered by tenants and/or their guests caused by:

"[A] Dangerous **condition existing before** or arising after the tenant had taken possession, if he has failed to exercise reasonable care to repair the condition and the existence of the condition is in violation of **(1) an implied warranty of habitability, or** (2) a duty created by statute or administrative regulation". (emphasis added).

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