RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Aug 14, 2015, 12:14 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 91957-7

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RENATO FIGURACION and JOLEEN FIGURACION, individually and the marital community comprised thereof and S.F., by and through her Parent/Guardian JOLEEN FIGURACION, a minor child,

Petitioners,

v.

REMBRANDT REALTY TRUST; THE NEIDERS COMPANY, LLC, a Washington Corporation,

Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark P. Scheer, WSBA No. 16651
mscheer@scheerlaw.com
Kara A. Tredway, WSBA No. 44984
ktredway@scheerlaw.com
Scheer & Zehnder LLP
701 Pike Street, Suite 2200
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 262-1200

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

#### IV. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied

A Petition for Review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if: (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a previous decision of the Supreme Court; (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a previous decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) the decision of the Court of Appeals involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the Constitution of the United States; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

Petitioners suggest that the decision of the Court of Appeals in the subject suit conflicts with a previous decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Notably, Petitioners provide no support for this assertion and specifically fail to cite to any previous Appellate Court decision with which the subject decision conflicts. Further, Petitioners contend that the subject suit involves an issue of substantial public interest war ranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Rembrandt respectfully disagrees. This case involved a non-defective, legally compliant radiator unit. Should the Court of Appeals' decision be reversed it would inappropriately and unfairly extend liability and in effect would create precedent wherein a landlord may be liable for any and all injuries that may occur in an

apartment. For example, a landlord could be liable if a child is injured on a non-defective, legally compliant stove top merely because the child came in contact with the hot stove top. Liability is not fairly placed on the landlord in such circumstances. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the law. If the decision was reviewed and reversed then it would involve a matter of substantial public interest because it would signal the creation of law stating that a landlord would in effect be the insurer of his or her tenants. The trial court and the Court of Appeals properly evaluated the issues under existing law. Both courts properly determined that Rembrandt did not breach any duty it owed the Figuracions.

- A. The Appellate Court's Decision Does Not Conflict with a Previous Decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals.
  - 1. The Figuracions Had Exclusive Possession and Control of the Radiator.

Petitioners assert that the Court of Appeals erred in determining that the Figuracions had exclusive possession and control over the radiator within their apartment unit. Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeals failed to examine whether Rembrandt retained possession or control over the radiator by virtue of the fact that Rembrandt controlled the central boiler. This assertion is patently incorrect.

A tenant may bring a claim against a landlord for personal injuries

under both the common law and the Residential Landlord Tenant Act (RLTA). Martini v. Post, 178 Wn. App. 153, 167, 313 P.3d 473 (2013). Under the Restatement (Second) of Property: Landlord & Tenant §§ 17.3 and 17.4 (1977), a landlord may be liable for conditions on a portion of the leased premises that he retains in his control if the tenant is entitled to use it or if it is necessary to the safe use of the leased part. After conducting a thorough analysis as to whether the radiator was located within a "common area" (and holding that it was not because there was no evidence that other tenants used the radiator), the Court next considered whether Rembrandt retained any control or possession over the radiator. The Court determined that exclusive control and possession of the radiator had passed to the Figuracions upon their lease of the premises. The Figuracions possessed the apartment. Rembrandt was required to ask for permission to enter the apartment. S.F. was injured on the radiator within the apartment, not on the central boiler. Further, the Figuracions were not entitled to use the central boiler.

Petitioners contend that other jurisdictions have determined that the landlord may retain control or possession over central heating systems. While this may be so, this is not the law in Washington. In fact, the only Washington State case Petitioners cite in support of this contention, namely *Thomas v. Hous. Auth. of Bremerton*, is readily distinguished from

the present matter. In *Thomas*, a small child was burned when she fell into a bathtub full of hot water in her apartment unit. Thomas v. Hous. Auth. Of Bremerton, 71 Wn.2d 69, 426 P.2d 836 (1967). Notably, the Court did not examine the issue of whether the landlord retained control of the water heater within the apartment for purposes of Restatement (Second) of Property: Landlord & Tenant §§ 17.3 and 17.4. Rather, the Court examined whether the child's injury was foreseeable and whether the temperature of the water was a latent condition. Id. at 72, 74-75. The Court noted that the subject water heater contained a set screw which allowed one to adjust the temperature from extreme hot to extreme cold. Id. at 71. At the time of the injury, the temperature was set to the highest setting, which produced water ranging from 180 to 208 degrees Fahrenheit. Id. Prior to the injury, the child's uncle complained to maintenance staff, during an occasion in which the water heater was being serviced, that the water in the apartment was "too hot." Despite this, the maintenance person failed to lower the temperature setting of the water heater while the unit was being serviced. Id. at 76. In fact, the water heater in the child's apartment unit was serviced three separate times at her family's request, prior to the injury, during the time the family resided there. *Id.* at 71. On the basis of the uncle's complaint, and the fact that the maintenance staff "knew that water from this type of hot water tank could and did reach 200 degrees, and hotter, when the thermostat was out of adjustment or the lever was on the highest setting," the Court held the evidence supported a finding that the injury was foreseeable. *Id.* at 72-73, 76. Further, the Court held that there was no way for the average person to determine the difference between safe and unsafe water temperatures being produced by the hot water tank without the use of a high range thermometer, and in so determining found the water temperature to be a latent condition. Id. at. 75. The facts in Thomas are distinguishable from the present case because there is no evidence that Rembrandt knew that the radiator within the Figuracions' apartment unit was defective or that it was capable of reaching dangerously hot temperatures. Thomas involved water flowing from a hot water tank that was to be used for bathing and for consumption. Thus, one would logically expect that the water heater would be set to a temperature range that would be safe for such purposes. This is different from the reasonable or safe temperature setting for a radiator, the specific purpose of which is to heat a living environment.

Generally, areas that are necessary to a tenant's use of the premises, and are for exclusive use of the tenant pass as an appurtenant to the leased premises. *Andrews v. McCutcheon*, 17 Wn.2d 340, 344-45, 135 P.2d 459 (1943). A landlord generally has no liability over non-common

areas once exclusive control has passed to the tenant. Aspon v. Loomis, 62 Wn. App. 818, 826, 816 P.2d 751 (1991).

Petitioners are unable to cite to any Washington State case law addressing the issue of whether a landlord retains control over an individual radiator unit within a tenant's apartment. However, there is precedent from this Court which helps inform the issue. In *Resident Action Council v. Seattle Hous. Auth.*, this Court addressed the issue of whether a landlord retained control over the exterior surface of doors leading to tenant's apartments for purposes of a First Amendment analysis. *Resident Action Council v. Seattle Hous. Auth.*, 162 Wn.2d 773, P.3d 84 (2008). The Court determined that the landlord did not retain control over the exterior surfaces of the door. In so holding the Court indicated that:

Unlike [] hallways and other such common areas, other tenants and the general public have no right of access to the outer surface of unit doors....Nor does a landlord's control over a hallway, in itself, signal the landlord's intent to reserve control over an adjoining surface that is not common. It is not significant to this inquiry that the door, when closed, serves as part of the hallway. To the extent that a resident's use of his or her door does not interfere with use of the common area, the landlord's control over the common area does not imply a reservation of control over the adjacent door. Nor would [the landlord] impliedly retain control despite its responsibility for repair and replacement and liability for defective doors...[The landlord] has a duty to maintain doors under the [RLTA] and local codes...[The landlord] has a duty to maintain that is a function of statutory responsibilities, so maintenance is not tantamount to asserting a right of control.

Id. at 780-81.

Here, the Figuracions had exclusive control over the radiator. No other tenants had a right to access the radiator within the Figuracion's apartment unit. Rembrandt could not access the radiator in the apartment without the permission of the Figuracions. The radiator was wholly separate and apart from any common areas within the Rembrandt Apartments building. Nothing in the lease agreement indicated intent on the part of Rembrandt to retain control over the radiator.

Additionally, Rembrandt's control over the central boiler, in and of itself, does not imply an intent to reserve control over the radiator within the Figuracion's apartment. As indicated above, even if the landlord exerts control over a common area that adjoins a non-common area, this does not indicate the intent to reserve control over the non-common area. The central boiler did not "adjoin" the radiator within the Figuracion's apartment. The central boiler was not a common area and was separate from the Figuracion's apartment. So, even if Rembrandt exerted control over the central boiler, this does not signify that Rembrandt retained control over the radiator in the Figuracion's apartment.

Even assuming *arguendo*, that when steam from the central boiler was pumped to the radiator in the apartment that the central boiler became "adjoined" to the radiator, this still does not mean that Rembrandt

intended to retain control over the individual radiator. As highlighted above, it did not affect the Court's analysis in *Resident Action Council* that when closed, the exterior surfaces of the tenant-controlled doors are a part of the common area hallway. At all times, the radiator was under the exclusive possession and control of the Figuracions. The Figuracions had the exclusive ability to control the radiator unit within their apartment. Rembrandt could not and did not retain control over the radiator. Additionally, the fact that Rembrandt had a duty under the RLTA to maintain and repair the heating system does not mean that Rembrandt asserted control over the radiator unit within the Figuracion's apartment.

#### 2. Rembrandt Did Not Breach any Duties Under RLTA.

Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeals erroneously held that Rembrandt did not breach a duty owed to the Figuracions under the RLTA.

The RLTA states that a landlord must comply with a list of fifteen enumerated duties. RCW 59.18.060. Breach of one of the RLTA duties may be a basis for a tenant's personal injury claim. *Tucker v. Hayford*, 118 Wn. App. 246, 257-58, 75 P.3d 980 (2003). Petitioners suggests that the fifteen listed duties are "merely examples of how a landlord can go about in complying with such duties" and that the RLTA implies a "general duty to maintain fitness." Petition for Review at 17. This

assertion directly contradicts established Washington law, wherein it has been determined that the RLTA does <u>not</u> create a general duty to "keep the premises fit for human habitation." *Lian v. Stalick*, 106 Wn. App. 811, 816, 25 P.3d 467 (2001).

Accordingly, in order to maintain a claim under the RLTA, Petitioners must show that Rembrandt breached one or more of the fifteen duties. Petitioners cannot make such a showing. Rembrandt repeatedly requested the Figuracions identify a specific RLTA code provision that was violated with respect to steam radiators in support of their claim. (CP 300-323). Petitioners cannot because Rembrandt did not violate any RLTA code section.

Instead of tying their RLTA claim directly into one of the fifteen provisions, Petitioners now rely on a theory that the radiator was "too hot" without making the requisite showing that the radiator was in violation of any specific code or ordinance. Radiator covers are not required by any statute, ordinance or code, so this cannot be a basis for liability on the part of Rembrandt.

Petitioners allege that RCW 59.18.060(3) ("keep any shared or common areas visually clean, sanitary, and safe from defects increasing the hazard of fire or accident") should apply here based on Petitioners' flawed argument that Rembrandt retained control over the central heating

system. As discussed above, there is no evidence that the radiator within the apartment constituted a common area or that Rembrandt retained control over the radiator. Thus, this argument fails. Also, Petitioners state that Rembrandt, under RCW 59.18.060(8) had a duty to keep the heating system in "good working order" and that fulfilling this duty means that "appliances should be safe." Petition for Review at 18. There is no evidence that the radiator was defective in any way or otherwise was not in good working order. Rather, the radiator was maintained in good working order because it operated correctly and performed the function it was supposed to perform, namely it heated the apartment. Accordingly, the Petition for Review should be denied on the basis that there was no violation of the RLTA.

#### 3. Rembrandt Did Not Breach any Common Law Duty.

#### a. Implied Warranty of Habitability

Petitioners assign error to the Appellate Court's determination that the implied warranty of habitability only applies where a statutory or regulatory violation is present. Rather, Petitioners assert that proving a violation of the implied warranty of habitability only requires a showing of an "actual or potential safety hazard to the tenants." Petition for Review at 12.

Under the Restatement (Second) of Property: Landlord & Tenant § 17.6 (1977):

A landlord is subject to liability for physical harm caused to the tenant...by a dangerous condition existing before or arising after the tenant has taken possession, if he has failed to exercise reasonable care to repair the condition and the existence of the condition is in violation of:

- (1) an implied warranty of habitability; or
- (2) a duty created by statute or administrative regulation.

At the outset, Petitioners have shown no evidence that the radiator, on its own, created a "dangerous condition" or that it was defective in any manner. The mere fact that the radiator got hot, as it was supposed to in order to perform its function of heating the apartment, does not mean that the radiator constituted a dangerous condition. Additionally, as discussed above, Petitioners failed to show that Rembrandt breached a duty owed to the Figuracions under either the RLTA or any other applicable statute or ordinance. Accordingly, assuming for argument sake that the radiator was a "dangerous condition" then liability may only attach if Rembrandt violated the implied warranty of habitability.

Washington case law indicates that any breach of the duty of the implied warranty of habitability is determined on a case-by-case basis. Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Directors v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 522, 799 P.2d 250 (1990). The standard of

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